The Easter Raitts Dig 1999

Update:  June 1999


        Excavation dates: 27 June – 31 July 1999

The Easter Raitts Project
When the inhabitants of Easter Raitts were evicted in 1803, the village had apparently been occupied for at least 400 years.    It was typical of many highland settlements, with its turf and timber houses, barns, kilns and yards.   Today only the footings of buildings and the outlines of roadways and fields remain, but nearby is a magnificent souterrain (artificial cave) built of stone slabs, which could be used for food storage and as a hideout in times of trouble.  

The site lies on a south-east facing slope, just north of Kingussie, looking across the river Spey towards Ruthven Barracks – the site of the medieval castle of the lords of Badenoch.

In 1995 The Highland Council’s Archaeology unit joined forces with the University of Aberdeen’s Centre for Continuing Education and the Highland Vernacular Buildings Trust to investigate.    Excavations have taken place each summer since then, with Historic Scotland assisting with funding in 1998 and 1999. 
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The work has several aims –

· to provide information on the construction and use of the village buildings which is being used to create an experimental reconstruction of a highland township at the Highland Folk Park at Newtonmore

· to research the way of life of ordinary folk in the highlands before the 19th century Agricultural Improvements – surprisingly, very little archaeological excavation has ever been done on this type of site – although thousands of deserted villages exist in the highlands.   The results will help to inform future conservation and cultural tourism projects

· to provide training in archaeological fieldwork through the University of Aberdeen

· to link to other initiatives such as the Badenoch and Strathspey Community Archaeologist.   

The project is managed by John Wood, the Highland Council’s Senior Archaeologist, with fieldwork directed by Olivia Lelong.

Artist’s impression of the completed reconstruction at the Highland Folk Park, Newtonmore

Archaeological and Historical Background


Easter Raitts, with Wester and Mid Raitts, form a group of three settlements whose origins date back at least to the 13th century.  A chapel is recorded at Raitts at that time, dedicated to the Celtic saint Molúog, suggesting it pre-dated Norman influence in the area.  The farm on which the township lies is called Chapelpark Farm, although the origins of this name and the location of any chapel remains are unknown at present.


Archaeological remains in the vicinity also contribute to a picture of Raitts' early importance.  The line of a medieval road runs along the terrace c 250 m south of the township, past a very large souterrain.  Although souterrains are generally considered to date from the Iron Age (c. 500 BC to 500 AD), local tradition connects episodes of robbery on the road to the use of the souterrain and an associated structure in the fifteenth century.


Norman influence held sway in this area from the thirteenth century onward, with the Red Comyns constructing a castle at Ruthven, on the natural mound now occupied by Ruthven Barracks and within sight of Raitts.  Control of the area and castle later passed to Alexander, the Wolf of Badenoch, fourth son of Robert II.  He quarrelled with the Bishop of Moray over, among other issues, ownership of the chapel at Raitts.  By 1452 the lands which included Raitts had passed to the Gordon family, Earls of Huntly.  In the late 15th.c, the Mackintoshes of Borlum came to hold Raitts in feu from the Gordons.  In 1788 they sold the estate to James Macpherson, the controversial translator of Gaelic (so-called Ossianic) poetry, who carried out improvements on the property.  It was probably his son who removed people from the townships in order to put sheep on the land.


The earliest reference to people living at Raitts is in the form of rentals dating to the 1400s among the Gordon family papers.   Timothy Pont's map of the 1590s, published in Blaeu's atlas of 1654, shows West Rait, Mid Rait and Rait in locations corresponding to their present positions on the north side of Strathspey.  


After the 1715 Jacobite uprising the British government built Ruthven Barracks and a military road just below the township, close to the line of the medieval road. 

The Fieldwork Project 

This is only a brief summary of the work.  Annual reports on each season’s results are available from the Highland Council’s Archaeology Unit or from our web site on http://www.higharch.demon.co.uk.

Excavation over the last four seasons has focused on structures within the settlement.  Banks, platforms and scooped features have been recorded, as well as at least 18 structures.  Most of these are visible as turf-clad stone footings, and excavation has shown they were cruck-framed with mainly turf walls, perhaps with alternating stone layers in some cases, upon the stone footings.   

In 1995, topographic survey by Magnar Dalland and Andrea Smith of AOC (Scotland) Ltd, and trial trenches by Kirsty Cameron of Edinburgh University’s Centre for Field Archaeology highlighted the many building forms present, various possible phases of construction, and the relative degrees of preservation evident in different structures.


Jonathan Wordsworth directed a pilot season of training excavations in 1996 which suggested that structure 9 was a house while structure 10 was a byre or barn, with a drain leading out to the marshy ground to the north. 


Excavations in 1997 and 1998 directed by Olivia Lelong showed structure 21 to be a longhouse, with a main living area and a small byre annexe at one end.  A large stone hearth dominated the main part, with paving along two sides; a series of six superimposed earthen floors was recorded.  The east end of the house contained two rough platforms and a central cobbled walkway, interpreted as a dairy. The remains of turf walls were found built up against the footings.  Immediately to the south of the longhouse's entrance, a small, scooped feature (26) proved to be a structure with a paved interior.


Longhouse 24A proved to have been re-used after its human occupants had left, probably for sheep.  Its hearth survived, but its entrance had been sealed and its interior scoured.  A cobbled apron led out from the former entrance to a scoop (15) made to expose a deposit of natural clay.

Structure 24B, built over the end of longhouse 24, was most likely a pig-sty.  A paved entrance lead to a hollowed, cobbled yard (14). 


The longest structure in the township (no. 6) proved to consist of five rooms or structures, added over at least four stages.  Each contained drains and cobbled surfaces, for use by animals.  Many of the animals of the township were perhaps over-wintered together.  The structure may also have included stabling for pack horses travelling the drove road nearby.


In 1999 we will open a trench over platform (5), which abuts structure 6 on the west.  This appears much less regular and stony than other buildings in the township and may be either older than them or had a very different function.   Two circular hollows nearby will also be investigated.  To the west of the township, we will be investigating the runrig (cultivation ridges).  Finally, we will complete the excavation of 
outbuilding 26 and longhouse 21. 
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Visiting Easter Raitts

Excavation dates: 27 June – 31 July 1999

Visitors are welcome at the dig on Mondays, Tuesdays, Thursdays and Fridays between 10.00 am and 12.00 noon, and between 2.00 pm and 4.00 pm.  Admission is free of charge.  Visits at other times may be possible by prior arrangement (see below). 

As the site lies on farmland, please follow the country code.  Please do not bring dogs.

Directions:

There is no public transport to the site itself.  Trains and buses serve Kingussie If you contact us in advance, it may be possible to arrange transport from the Highland Folk Museum at Kingussie.  However this is subject to availability of people on site able to offer lifts.

From the A9 take the turn for Kingussie.  If heading north, turn right onto the B9152 towards Lynchat and pass under the A9.  If heading south, turn left onto the B9152 towards Lynchat.

At the northern end of Lynchat, turn left at Chapel Park Farm onto the farm access road.  The excavation should be signposted from this point.

Unless you have made special arrangements with us beforehand, please leave your car in the area indicated to the left before the tunnel under the A9, and walk from here (about 15 mins).  

Go through the tunnel and turn left at the T- junction.  Before the cottage, turn left to follow the main track and pass through the gate.  Please leave this gate as you find it.  Continue up the track to the gate at the top and pass through, again leaving it as you find it.  You should now see the cars parked and the site offices ahead of you.
It is helpful if all official or disabled visitors, and those bringing school or other groups could please contact us in advance of their visit:

Archaeology Unit

Planning and Development Service

The Highland Council

HQ, Glenurquhart Road

Inverness  IV3  5NX

Telephone 01463 702502   Fax 01463 702298  Email:  Archaeology@highland.gov.uk
Visiting the reconstructed township at Baile Gean, Turus Tim (Highland Folk Museum, Newtonmore)
One ticket gives admission to both the Highland Folk Museum sites at Kingussie and Newtonmore.  They are signposted from the A9.   Baile Gean is open daily during the summer from 10.00 am to 4.00 pm (Mon-Fri); 1.00 – 5.00 pm (Sat-Sun).  
